
Agenda

No Local Connection Review 
Group

Date: Tuesday 21 August 2018

Time: 5.00 pm

Place: The Old Library - Oxford Town Hall

For any further information please contact: 
Stefan Robinson
Telephone: 01865 252191
Email: srobinson@oxford.gov.uk

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting.



HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no longer produce 
paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum requirements. Paper copies may be looked at 
the Town Hall Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library

A copy of the agenda may be:-
- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Downloaded from our website
- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

No Local Connection Review Group
Membership

Chair: Councillor Nadine Bely-Summers
Councillor Shaista Aziz Councillor Paul Harris
Councillor Richard Howlett Councillor Tom Landell Mills
Councillor Craig Simmons



AGENDA

Pages

1  WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS
Welcome from the Chair and brief round table introductions. 

2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive any apologies for absence. 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To consider any declarations of interest. 

4  EXTERNAL CONTRIBUTIONS 7 - 18
As background information, the meeting has also been provided with a 
research report from the Scrutiny Officer which summarises how various local 
authorities apply local connection criteria to their homelessness support 
services. Only members of the Review Group will have access to appendix 1, 
as this contains information that is exempt from publication under paragraphs 2 
and 3 of Part 1, Section 12A, of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Guests will be invited to make any opening statements if they wish. The 
meeting will then move to questions from the Review Group and open 
discussion. As of 9 August, confirmed guests include:

 Matthew Downie - Crisis National Director of Policy and External Affairs
 Kate Cocker - Crisis Oxford Skylight Director
 David Portway - ACT! Managing Director
 Rob Rogers - ACT! Outreach Team Leader
 Dr James Porter, GP - Luther Street Medical Centre

Key questions and themes may include:

Local connection 
a) What are Luther St, Crisis and ACTs services’ relationships to the local 

connection rules? Is any support limited to those with a local connection?
b) What proportion of the people you support do not have a local connection?
c) What would be the impact of opening larger parts of the pathway/creating 

new accommodation provision for those without local connection? Are there 
opportunities to save money whilst expanding services?

d) What are the best and worst examples from elsewhere of service provision 
for those without a local connection?

e) What are the barriers to reconnecting people with an area where they have 
a local connection? 

f) The Council currently makes exemptions to the local connection policy for: 
care leavers, those at risk of violence, those protected under a military 
covenant, those with no connection to any other area, and those with a clear 
connection to the County. Are there any other groups that you think should 
be added to the exemptions list?

g) A recent Crisis report recommended scrapping or abolishing local 



connection criteria (see How to end homelessness in Great Britain (Crisis) 
report p.194 and p.389). The European Observatory on Homelessness has 
made a similar suggestion. How would an alternative policy look in practice, 
taking account of the local government finance envelope?

Health
h) What is the role of local GP surgeries in supporting rough sleepers?
i) How would you characterise the level of vulnerability and health risks 

experienced among rough sleepers?
j) What more could the Council do to support local health providers in helping 

rough sleepers?

Other
k) How effective and accurate do you think central government guidance is on 

counting and collecting data on rough sleepers?
l) The ‘small’ ways the current system could adapt to make things better. 
m)What is the ACT Housing model, and Oxford Winter Shelter housing model?
n) Examples where rough sleepers have been let down by the system.
o) Would you be able to help connect us with people who have experience of 

rough sleeping, for the benefit of our research?

5  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 19 - 24
To note the minutes of the previous meeting held on 19 July 2018.

6  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS
To note the Review Group’s next meeting dates, commencing at 5pm:

 4 September 2018 (external guests)
 2 October 2018 (forming draft conclusions and recommendations)

7  ANY OTHER BUSINESS
To consider any other business.

8  REPORTS CONTAINING CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT 
INFORMATION

25 - 30

Please note that Appendix 1 of item 4 is exempt from publication under 
paragraphs 2 and 3 of Part 1, Section 12A, of the Local Government Act 
1972. If the Review Group wishes to exclude the press and the public from 
the meeting during consideration of this item, it will be necessary to pass a 
resolution to that effect.

https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238959/everybody_in_how_to_end_homelessness_in_great_britain_2018.pdf


DECLARING INTERESTS

General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.

If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners.



This page is intentionally left blank



.

No Local Connection Review Group
Research Report: Consultation on Local Connection Policies
21 August 2018

Introduction and background 
1. This report has been provided as background evidence to the No Local Connection 

Review Group’s ongoing research on local connection policies. This evidence may 
help to inform the oral evidence gathering sessions with guest speakers and the 
Review Group’s final report. The review group is asked to:

a) Note this report as background information for the review
b) Consider whether it still wishes to visit another local authority, in light of the 

information received, and identify priority authorities if required.  

2. The Scrutiny Officers has approached 29 local authorities to ask questions about 
their local connection policies. This report summarises the findings of this research, 
and the full unedited responses can be found at Appendix 1. This appendix is 
exempt under paragraph 2, Part 1, of schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 (information that may reveal the identity of an individual). Appendix 2 provides 
the report considered by the review group on 19 July, as background reading for 
our guest speakers.

Methodology
3. The Scrutiny Officer contacted 29 Local Authorities (participants), initially with 

tailored emails about their local connection policies. This included a question on 
whether they would consider someone to have a local connection in circumstances 
where they had slept rough for six or more months. These findings are weighted 
towards London borough authorities, and other large metropolitan cities, so the 
data is not necessarily representative of English local authorities generally. Broadly 
speaking, London boroughs have a higher number of people sleeping rough than in 
more rural local authority areas, and greater infrastructure to operate a homeless 
pathway, supported by a concentration of third sector providers. 

4. Importantly, London boroughs assume unitary responsibilities, meaning that they 
are the principal authority in that area responsible for homelessness. Conversely, 
homelessness funding arrangements in Oxford have previously been split between 
the City and County Council. This cooperative two tier arrangement adds a layer of 
complexity that is not prevalent in London. 

5. Responses were received from 12 local authorities, including four phone 
conversations. In most circumstances, follow up emails / conversations were 
prompted, with fewer responses received in the second round. Each participant 
was made aware that this was for the purposes of the review group’s work, but 
consent for wider publication was not sought. By asking for consent to publish, the 
Scrutiny Officer anticipates fewer responses would have been received, which 
would also likely be filtered. For that reason, this summary report does not identify 
any specific local authorities. 

7

Agenda Item 4



2

6. The responses of the local authorities varied significantly, with some authorities 
having a significant interest in the work of the review group, and others not 
responding. It is expected that some of the email addresses used may have been 
out of date, or the emails ignored due to high demand within the service. 

Key Themes

7. This section of the report summarises the key themes of the data gathered from the 
participants in this research. The four themes relate to; policy discretion, 
reconnection, cross-boundary work and other comments. 

Discretion is prioritised over a local connection, at the first point of contact
8. The majority of participants said they took a discretionary approach to service 

provision for people who are homeless or rough sleeping. Most agreed that whilst 
local connection criteria are a useful tool for reconnecting people and prioritising 
service resources, it was often left to the discretion of the outreach worker, and in 
some cases the pathway manager or multi-agency body, to decide what level of 
service should be offered. This includes whether someone should be entitled to 
overnight accommodation, access to support pathways, and move-on support.  
This however needed regulating, sometimes through contract managements (see 
paragraph 13).

9. Most participants were of the view that the strict application of a ‘one size fits all’ 
local connection policy was not appropriate, and did not account for the diversity of 
needs and vulnerabilities experienced by rough sleepers. Whilst some said they 
would offer a local connection to people who had been sleeping rough for more 
than six months, others took what they described as a more ‘pragmatic’ approach. 
Most suggested that each case must be considered on its own merits, with the 
health, safety and vulnerability of a rough sleeper being the priority. 

10. Some explained that having strict local connection criteria could limit one’s ability to 
act in supporting the most vulnerable. Many said that they did not have fixed (or 
were not willing to share) policy or guidance in this area, and instead tailored their 
support based on key variables including:

 Someone’s physical and mental health 
 Someone’s level of dependency on drugs and/or alcohol
 Someone’s risk of experiencing violence
 Whether someone’s rough sleeping habits were entrenched (which does not 

necessarily relate to the amount of time sleeping rough, but also attitudes)
 The barriers posed to reconnecting someone to another area

11. One participant criticised the approach of offering a local connection to people 
who have slept rough for six months. They said that publishing detailed criteria on 
what will give someone a local connection, such as rough sleeping for six months, 
may lead some people to purposefully refusing other services for that period until 
a local connection is gained. Therefore, they suggested it was an unworkable as a 
policy. For example, the same participant explained that someone who has been 
sleeping rough for one year may be in less need than someone who has been for 
one day, on the basis of their health and vulnerability. 

8



3

12. Another participant (that does not distinguish the level of services based on local 
connection) said they prioritised acceptance onto the pathway for those who 
presented a ‘dual diagnosis (those with a severe health problem and problematic 
substance abuse). Overwhelmingly, health was considered the key vulnerability 
observed among rough sleepers, as opposed to risk of violence, for example.

13. Some authorities centralised their discretionary decision making powers into 
pathway managers, whilst others empowered outreach workers and third sector 
providers to make this decision. One authority with a significant street population 
highlighted that effective contract management of outreach services ensured only 
priority cases were referred for council support services, regardless of local 
connection. In this case, only a very small percentage of the 1000+ people each 
year who presented as homeless had a ‘genuine’ connection to the area. 

14. Many participants recognised that judging whether someone should be entitled to 
overnight accommodation, for example, was a subjective process. One participant 
explained that a discretionary approach sometimes means overlooking an 
absence of local connection, and a formal protocol underwriting this would not be 
of benefit. Some described their approach as being ‘local connection blind’ at the 
first point of contact, with shelter being the first priority, followed by reconnection. 
This is the same as in Oxford. One area would only offer support to those who 
had registered at a local medical centre, which encouraged sign up. 

15. Whilst most participants highlighted that discretion was key in defining one’s 
entitlement to support, there was general consensus that local connection policies 
were a valuable way of resolving cross-boundary disputes, stopping abuse of the 
system, and prioritising need. None professed to have ‘got it right’, and some 
highlighted that despite their comparatively relaxed policy approach to other local 
authorities, there was still a significant number of vulnerable people on the streets, 
because there were not enough bed spaces, resources and services to support 
everyone. 

16. Several of the participants explained that in their view, the relaxation of a local 
connection policy would only contribute to a minor inflow of rough sleepers from 
outside the local authority boundary, and any evidence to the contrary was called 
anecdotal by one participant. Participants were confident that the strength of local 
footfall, the night-time economy, begging opportunities and the quality of voluntary 
support services were a much bigger draw than what a council policy was. The 
European Observatory on Homelessness suggests that the perception that 
improved services will ‘attract’ people from afar to certain areas is an obstacle to 
progression.1 

Reconnection will always be sought, except in exceptional circumstances
17. Whilst discretion was prioritised over whether someone had a local connection, 

the feedback from participants shows that the long term goal is almost always to 
reconnect people to an area where they have a local connection. Only in 
exceptional circumstances would a reconnection not be sought, such as for fear of 
reprimand by a violent drug dealer. For those with significant vulnerabilities, 

1 European Observatory on Homelessness (2015). Local Connection Rules and Access to 
Homelessness Services in Europe. p.36

9



4

reconnection was generally sought after work had been done to stabilise that 
person’s situation (i.e providing shelter and support).

18. Some pathway managers took advice from outreach workers on whether to 
reconnect someone, and others had dedicated reconnection officers responsible 
for linking people with services in their own area. Most took the approach of 
offering people shelter, and engaging them with reconnections further into the 
pathway. Reconnection work was highlighted as resource intensive, and 
participants indicated that local authorities had increased their focus on this in 
recent years.

19. Some authorities were asked what would happen in a situation where someone 
refused to reconnect. Most said that they would work with that person to 
understand why they refused to reconnect, and apply discretion on whether that 
was a valid reason. No policies were forthcoming on this issue. In one example, 
where someone refused a connection, the outreach team would monitor them at 
arm’s length and judge whether their situation was deteriorating to the extent that 
they required full support.  

Cross-boundary work is important

20. In line with the discretionary approach, some participants highlighted best practice 
through informal cross-boundary working. For example, two authorities spoke 
about negotiating reciprocal agreements for exchanging support for rough 
sleepers. Borough ‘A’ would take on a rough sleeper whose local connection lies 
with borough ‘B,’ but who has been rough sleeping in borough A and is reluctant 
to return to borough ‘B’. In turn, borough ‘B’ would offer space in a hostel in their 
area to meet that needs of a rough sleeper in borough ‘A.’

21. Examples of these reciprocal and informal arrangements were most common in 
mayoral areas, where the political and geographical arrangements supported 
close cross-border working. This is also supported through having unitary single 
tier authorities in London boroughs. Economies of scale and city-wide voluntary 
services were also benefits experienced within larger urban areas. Another 
example of an informal rule between authorities concerned allocating support 
based on which local authority performed the first assessment, regardless of local 
connection.

Other comments
22. Some other notable comments provided by the participants included:

 New funding from HM Government is allowing some authorities to progress new 
ideas and recruit more specialised staff. However, the future landscape remains 
unclear, and local connection policies may need to become stricter where the 
demand on services increases. 

 None of the participants provided their local connection policies, or procedures for 
assessing sough sleepers. There was a clear nervousness among participants 
about providing this, with several suggesting that they did not have such a policy, 
and discretion was entrusted to the various staff supporting the pathway.  

10



5

 The challenge of affordable housing provision means there are very limited move 
on opportunities for those completing homeless pathways, which leads to 
saturation in support services. People can then become more entrenched 
because there is no throughput.

 People must be entitled to housing benefit in order that they can access support 
services, which generally disadvantages asylum seekers and European Economic 
Area jobseekers. 

Conclusion

23. From the feedback provided by the 12 participants, the data showed that most 
authorities take account of local connection criteria in prioritising need, but 
discretionary exemptions were championed as a more practicable way forward. 
Officers have explained that this is the same approach taken in Oxford. Multiple 
and complex health issues, such as dual diagnosis, were highlighted as the key 
variable where discretion should be applied. 

24. The challenge in administering this discretion seems to be whether every person 
working in the pathway, including outreach workers, commissioned providers and 
pathway managers, apply their discretion fairly and consistently. The subjective 
nature of discretion may benefit from having written principles, policies or 
guidance; which no participants were forthcoming with. 

Report author Stefan Robinson

Job title Scrutiny Officer
Service area or department Law and Governance
Telephone 01865 252191  
e-mail srobinson@oxford.gov.uk 

Background Papers: None

Appendices
Appendix 1: EXEMPT – Responses Received from Local Authorities 

Appendix 2: Review Group Report from 19 July 2018

11

mailto:srobinson@oxford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 - No Local Connection Review Group report from the meeting held 
on 19 July )background information)

1. What provision is already in place to support rough sleepers without a local 
connection?

Introduction

In order for an individual to access supported accommodation for single homeless 
/rough sleepers in Oxford, they need to meet eligibility criteria. This means they need 
to have a local connection as set out in the City’s Allocations Scheme or to fulfil the 
criteria for a ‘homeless pathway connection’. A pathway connection is a less strict 
set of criteria than the ‘local connection’. They also need to be in receipt of benefits 
(and so have recourse to public funds).  

Some commissioned services can be accessed by those with and those without a 
local connection (or recourse), including the sit-up service (where the client is 
engaging) and day centre services. 

Further detail is provided in the sections below about winter provision which is open 
to those without eligibility. Information has also been provided about some of the 
accommodation units which are being commissioned through a specific MHCLG 
budget, and where the usual rules on eligibility will not apply

A summary of all services can be found in Table One

Winter Provision

Oxford City Council has a Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) which sets 
out what Oxford City Council and local partner homelessness organisations will do to 
ensure there is provision of extra bed spaces for rough sleepers during adverse 
weather conditions. During 2017-18, 144 individuals accessed SWEP – the highest 
number ever – and accommodation was provided for a total of827 nights. 

SWEP is available to people regardless of their local connection and has always 
been used by a high proportion of clients with a connection to areas outside 
Oxfordshire and by clients who are EEA nationals without recourse to public funds.  
Most of those accessing SWEP in 2017-18 did not have a connection to Oxford.. 
Many had a connection to other Oxfordshire districts but over a quarter had no 
connection to Oxfordshire. Many clients were still waiting for confirmation of their 
connection status. 

In addition, in 2017/18 the Oxford Winter Night Shelter (OWNS) operated between 
January and March, providing shelter to ten individuals across churches in Oxford. 
This service was provided without funding from the City Council and was open to all 
rough sleepers regardless of eligibility.  It is proposed that this service will expand in 
2018/19. 

13



MHCLG Bid

Oxford City Council has been awarded £502,983 by MHCLG to fund services to 
prevent and relieve rough sleeping over the winter of 18/19. 

This money will support OCC to provide a Hub in the city for Rough sleepers where 
they can access a number of support services. It is also being used to commission 
supported accommodation in the city.  Some units are being commissioned to meet 
the needs of eligible rough sleepers, however others will specifically be open to 
some rough sleepers without a local connection and/or recourse to public funds.  
Table 1 provides further information on this.

2. How homelessness services are funded?

Historically, the County Council commissioned most  services for single homeless 
people from Supporting People funding.  In recent years, this funding envelope has 
reduced significantly, with the Council proposing to cease funding entirely from 
2019/20 onwards.  From 17/18 a pooled budget arrangement was agreed between 
all the Oxfordshire district councils; the county council and clinical commissioning 
group, to continue to fund the Adult Homeless Pathway.

The City Council has re-shaped its own commissioning strategy in light of this and 
has prioritised funding into accommodation based support for rough sleepers, to 
ensure adequacy of provision for city-connected clients going forward.  The beds 
that the City Council commission are aligned with the pooled commissioning to offer 
clients access to an expanded pathway if they have a city connection.

Oxford City Council agreed its budget and Medium Term Financial Plan for the 
period 2018-19 to 2021-22 which included a base budget of provision of £941k per 
annum. A further commissioning budget is also available from the Council’s own 
grant budget of £442,279.
The strategic framework within which these funds are allocated remains the same, 
providing a total budget for 2018/19 of approximately £1,834,853. This represents a 
total increase of £100,000 on the 2017/18 budget (excluding the proposed managed 
carry forward of funds from and reserves committed to the Acacia Housing First 
Project in 2017/18). A further £200,000 has also been identified in the budget report 
for inclusion in the base budget from 2019/20 onwards.
In light of the cross-commissioning agenda and cross-strategy advantages of 
homeless prevention and ending rough sleeping work, a multi-agency steering group 
advises on the monitoring of this budget. The group comprises of representatives 
from Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire County Council Joint Commissioning Team, 
Public Health and the Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group.
Funding targeted at helping existing rough sleepers aims to support them through 
what is known as the homeless pathway. This is the path from sleeping on the 
streets; through hostels and supported accommodation; with support services to help 

14



with employment, training, or any substance abuse or mental health issues; and 
finally to helping people into permanent accommodation and work. 

Table 1

In 2018/19 the grants funded (and will be funding) the following services:

Oxfordshire Adult Homeless Pathway – Pooled Budget 
Supported Accommodation

Service Service 
Provider

Contract 
Value

City 
use 
only

Number of 
Units/Beds

Local 
connection

O'Hanlon Hse - City Homeless 
Oxfordshire Yes 27 Yes

Connection Support Connection & 
Response Yes 31 Yes

Mayday Mayday Trust

£161,700

Yes 21 Yes

79

Oxford City Funded Supported Housing

O'Hanlon Hse - City - 
SIT UP

Homeless 
Oxfordshire £54,903 Yes 10

No (RS can 
stay in sit up 
whist a 
connection is 
being looked 
into, or while 
they are 
engaged in 
reconnection)

Project 41 Homeless 
Oxfordshire £149,994 Yes 41 Yes

Simon House  A2 Dominion £200,000 Yes 22 Yes

Mayday Mayday Trust £39,272 Yes 10 Yes

Housing First Homeless 
Oxfordshire £47,850 Yes 5 Yes

Acacia - existing Homeless 
Oxfordshire £47,850 Yes 5 Yes

Acacia - capacity 
increase

Homeless 
Oxfordshire £47,850 Yes 5 Yes

TBC - EEA Migrants / 
Routes Home   Yes 1 No

  89

MHCLG Bid
O'Hanlon Hse - City - Homeless £33,658 No 10 As with the 

15



SIT UP - extension Oxfordshire sit-up 
service 
above

London Place winter 
shelter A2 

Dominion
20930 Yes 6 No

Simon House  - 
winter shelter

A2 
Dominion 62595 Yes 8 No

Womens beds Homeless 
Oxfordshire £16,377 TBC 5 Yes

Green Templeton 
College beds

Oxford 
University/ 
Aspire

£15,400 Yes 3 No

Rehab units Homeless 
Oxfordshire  49009 TBC 7 Yes

Move On units Homeless 
Oxfordshire  23962 Yes 5 Yes

District based Winter 
Night Shelters

District 
Councils 30000 No 20 No

  64

Other Services
Street Population 
Outreach Team, St Mungo’s £350,893 No

Specialist 
Homelessness 
Liaison 
Officer/Service 

Thames 
Valley 
Police

£30,000

No

City Centre 
Ambassadors 

Oxford City 
Council £17,500 No

Day services for 
Rough Sleepers at 
O’Hanlon House

Homeless 
Oxfordshire £82,778

No

Preventing 
Homelessness – 
Tenancy 
Sustainment Officer 

Elmore 
Community 
Services

£35,630

Yes

Pre-Tenancy 
Training Course

Connections 
Support £16,000 Yes

Target 
Hardening/Sanctuary 
Scheme

Oxford City 
Council £30,000

Yes

Education, Training 
and Employment 

Oxford City 
Council £77,623 Yes

Emmaus Community 
Oxford Emmaus £10,000 No

Day Centre The Porch £55,000 No
Service Broker £12,500 No 

16



The Big 
Issue 
Foundation

(although 
there is a 
KPI to 
encourage 
this)

Gatehouse Café Gatehouse £5,580  No
Emergency Bed for 
young person’s 
pathway

Oxford City 
Council

£6,134 Yes 
(forward 
plan 
needs to 
be in 
place)

Single 
Homelessness Team

Oxford City 
Council

£120,000 N/A

Oxford CHAIN 
database, Real 
Systems

St Mungos - 
London.

£4,396 N/A

3. Understanding the reconnection process for those without a local 
connection. 

The process of establishing local connection is carried out by OxSPOT (the outreach 
service commissioned through St Mungos), in conjunction with the Adult Homeless 
Pathway Co-ordinator at the City Council. The outreach worker verifies the rough 
sleeper and offers them an assessment, which will collect details that enable the co-
ordinator to determine if:

 the client has a connection to City/
 the client has a connection to another district in Oxfordshire (in which 

case they wll be referred to that authority).
if the client has a local connection to another area in the Country

Where the client does not have a connection to Oxford City or another Oxfordshire 
district, the outreach service will determine if the client is able to access 
accommodation/support in other areas of the country (regardless of their connection 
to any one area), and willdraw up a suitable offer of accommodation and support (a 
service offer). This may involve making an offer of reconnection and providing 
resources to support this.

17



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of a meeting of the 
NO LOCAL CONNECTION REVIEW GROUP
on Thursday 19 July 2018 

Committee members:
Councillor Aziz Councillor Bely-Summers (Chair)
Councillor Howlett Councillor Simmons

Officers: 
Frances Evans, Strategy & Service Development Manager
Nerys Parry, Rough Sleeping and Single Homelessness Manager
Stefan Robinson, Scrutiny Officer
Dave Scholes, Housing Strategy & Needs Manager
Sheetal Tanna, Senior Commissioning Officer
Polly Mckinlay, Senior Commissioning Officer
Sophia Stone, Assistant Commissioning Officer 

Also present:
Yvonne Pinner, Oxfordshire Community Foundation

Apologies:
Councillor Paul Harris sent apologies.

1. Welcome and introductions 
Round table introductions were carried out. The Chair explained that the Review Group 
was first proposed following councillor discussions with local campaign groups and 
homelessness charities, after a rise in rough sleeping over the last few years. She 
suggested that the situation was unacceptable, and that more needed to be done to 
help those in crisis. Other members of the Review Group had also proposed a review 
on this subject.  

2. Review scope and background reading list 
The Group asked that the Scrutiny Officer devise suggestions for improving public 
awareness of the review. Yvonne Pinner, from the Oxfordshire Community Foundation, 
said the City Conversation group was working on promoting public engagement on 
homelessness and rough sleeping matters. Council officers also said work was 
underway within the council to better engage with the public on this issue. 

In response to questions, it was clarified that officers had discussed with the outreach 
team and carried out desktop research, and there were no known local authority led 
policies that did not apply local connection criteria. There were however some charities 
that offered overnight beds to those without a local connection in some parts of the 
country. 

19

Agenda Item 5



The Housing Strategy and Needs Manager explained that some metropolitan areas in 
London offered ‘no first night out’ policies that see rough sleepers without a local 
connection given shelter within 24 hours. Members suggested that some local 
authorities considered a rough sleeper to have a local connection once they had been 
living on the streets for 6 months. The Group asked to visit an authority that operated 
this policy, to see what impact it was having. The Housing Strategy and Needs 
Manager explained that the Council’s current approach was that a local connection can 
only be applied to people who have lived in a settled home.

3. The current context 
The Housing Strategy and needs manager introduced the report and explained that 
there was a wide variety of services in Oxford for rough sleepers, most of which were 
funded by the City Council. Oxfordshire County Council used to have a £3m budget for 
support services across the County, but this would be reduced to zero in 2020. 

The City Council was in a three year pooled funding arrangement with the other 
Oxfordshire district councils and the County Council. This arrangement was due to 
expire, and negotiations were underway to extend this for a further two years. There 
were separate county and city homelessness pathways in operation, but service users 
would not necessarily know who was funding their bed space. 

The City Council’s position had been to maximise the number of beds available for 
those with a local connection. It was explained that there were significant financial 
challenges in meeting the needs of those with a local connection, and relaxing the local 
connection policy without additional funding would lead to a lower level of service for 
current clients. It was also suggested that relaxing the policy may inadvertently draw 
numerous rough sleepers from afar to make use of services. Officers also highlighted 
that it was difficult to secure move-on opportunities for rough sleepers with a local 
connection, and it would be more difficult and resource intensive for those without a 
local connection. 

In response to questions, the Housing Strategy and needs manager explained that the 
local connection definition applied to Council policy reflects the definition set out in 
section 199 of the Housing Act 1996:

A person has a local connection with the district of a local housing authority if he has a 
connection with it:

a) because he is, or in the past was, normally resident there, and that residence is 
or was of his own choice,

b) because he is employed there,
c) because of family associations, or
d) because of special circumstances.

This definition was used to decide whether someone could access the adult 
homelessness pathway or not, and it was also applied to the Council’s criteria for 

20



housing register applications. Reconnection support is offered to all, regardless of 
whether they had a local connection. The pathway connection option enables people 
who would not otherwise be able to access the adult homeless pathway, to do so, and 
benefit from supported accommodation. However, their exit route would be more limited 
as they cannot gain access to local authority housing. 

The majority of services commissioned by the City Council require a local connection to 
be established. However some services, such as the sit up service at O’Hanlon House 
(which is currently used as an assessment centre) do not require a local connection.

The Housing Strategy and Needs Manager said the City Council recently secured 
£502,000 from the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government to support 
various initiatives. This funding would be used to set up similar schemes to Oxford 
Winter Night Shelter, but in neighbouring districts. It would also be used to support 
additional services for those people with a local connection, but with no recourse to 
public funds. Other commitments include:

 a rough sleeper hub with various support services and activities 
 separate female-only accommodation for 5 women
 rehab and move-on units
 3 Green Templeton College beds
 8 beds at Simon House – Winter Shelter
 additional staff within the Outreach Team 

It was highlighted that £40,000 would also be available for rough sleepers with and 
without a local connection, who can apply for funding in situations where a small 
amount of money would make a significant difference to their housing situation, such as 
clearing rent arrears. 

Members suggested that some commissioned providers in the City had a perception 
problem, and that they had feedback from some rough sleepers to say that some 
environments were chaotic and problematic, and not conducive to their progression. 
The Housing Strategy and Needs Manager explained that there were several myths 
about some of the Council’s commissioned services, and he clarified and offered 
assurance that there were safeguards and processes in place to reduce the risks to 
rough sleepers within commissioned accommodation. The Group agreed to invite some 
service providers to an evidence gathering meeting to discuss these issues. 

Members also suggested that the culture of some services was less welcoming to 
those without a local connection, even if they did offer support to those clients. 

The Group discussed the Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP), and heard 
from officers the following:

 Last year saw the highest ever recorded use of swep, with 827 overnight stays.
 12% of people making use of SWEP in 2017/18 had a confirmed local 

connection. 
 Officers use a modelling system to monitor the availability and requirement for 

bed spaces during SWEP.

21



 If the demand for SWEP were to exceed the availability, then a community 
centre would be opened to support additional rough sleepers, though this had 
not been needed to date.

 SWEP places a significant demand on those working with rough sleepers, as 
they often have day jobs and then go on to work night shifts. 

 SWEP accommodation allows for men and women to be separate.

The Group asked to see more information on SWEP capacity for winter.

Members wanted it noted that the City Council was carrying out some excellent work to 
support rough sleepers. 

4. Approach to engaging with rough sleepers 
The Scrutiny Officer invited the Group to identify how it would go about engaging with 
rough sleepers, and gathering data to support the review. It was agreed that the group 
would deploy multiple methods of gathering feedback from rough sleepers, including:

 Inviting former rough sleepers working within existing council networks, such as 
Aspire, to give evidence to the Group. 

 Asking the Oxford Street Population Outreach Team (OxSPOT) to carry out 
survey interviews on the Group’s behalf.

 Asking various local charity organisations to carry out survey interviews on the 
Group’s behalf, such as the Gatehouse and ACT.

 Collating anonymised data from Common Assessment Forms, subject to 
compliance with the appropriate data protection regulations.   

 Using data gathered from other ongoing local research projects.  

Key issues identified during the discussion included:

 Rough sleepers must be informed of the project aims, how their data will be 
used, and give expressed consent. 

 Only a few questions should be asked to make the research convenient for 
participants.

 The Group wants to hear from people without a local connection. 
 The survey interviews should be carried out by professionals with experience of 

engaging with rough sleepers.
 Responses may be limited as the Council has no authority to require that other 

organisations carry out these survey interviews.
 All data should be anonymised. 
 Questions should broadly reflect those used in the common assessment forms, 

as to achieve a level of consistency in the data collected. 

The questions would be devised by the Scrutiny Officer and the Chair.

5. Confirmation of Guest Speakers 
The Group agreed that it wanted to hold two meetings with various guest speakers to 
ask them questions to help inform their evidence base. 

22



The Group agreed to send invitations to the organisations:

 Aspire Oxford
 Crisis Skylight Oxford and National Policy Director
 Centre for Social Investigation 
 Homes4All 
 Oxford Street Population Outreach (OXSPOT) 
 Homeless Oxfordshire
 Oxford Homeless Project
 Luther Street Medical Centre 
 Oxford Homeless Lunch
 ACT / St Aldates Church
 Gimme 5

The Group would also invite a written submission from Professor Suza0nne Fitzpatrick, 
who has led on several Crisis research projects.

It was suggested that officers involved in commissioning services should not be present 
when members are speaking with commissioned service providers. The Scrutiny 
Officer would work with the Chair to produce invites for each person and organisation, 
together with a brief on what they can expect. 

The Chair invited officers to comment on the value of the Group’s work. The review was 
welcome, but resourcing limitations were highlighted. Officers were working to bring 
forward additional work as it was more timely given the Group’s interest in the local 
connection policy. Members were also prompted to be aware of the budget implications 
of any recommendations, and it was suggested that recommendations were more likely 
to be given serious consideration where the budgeting had been set out by the Group. 

6. Next Steps 
The principal next steps were agreed as follows:

 That guests are invited to one of two meetings on either 21 August or 4 
September, to answer questions from the Group.

 That work begins on contacting external organisations to undertake survey 
interviews on the Group’s behalf.

 That a London Local Authority which offers a local connection to rough sleepers 
after 6 months is identified for a visit by members of the group. 

7. Future meeting dates 
The Group noted the next meeting dates:

21 August 2018
4 September 2018
2 October 2018

The meeting started at 5.00pm and ended at 7:05pm

23



This page is intentionally left blank

24



Document is Restricted

25

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 External contributions
	Appendix 2 - Review Group Report from 19 July

	5 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	8 Reports Containing Confidential or Exempt information

